Governing Grain Protein Concentration and Composition in Wheat and Barley: Use of Genetic and Environmental factors

Ali Hafeez Malik

Faculty of Landscape Planning, Horticulture and Agriculture Science Department of Agrosystems Alnarp

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Alnarp 2012 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2012:55

Cover: wheat spike (left) and barley spike (right). Pictures were taken in barley and wheat fields in Alnarp, Sweden. Picture by Ali Hafeez Malik

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7702-0 © 2012 Ali Hafeez Malik, Alnarp Print: SLU Service/Repro, Alnarp 2012

Governing grain protein concentration and composition in wheat and barley: Use of genetic and environmental factors

Abstract

For commercial production of wheat and barley, grain yield (GY), grain protein concentration (GPC) and protein composition are considered important. Genetic (G) and environmental (E) factors are important constraints affecting GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley. This thesis examined the options to govern GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley grain by using G and E factors. The results showed that combination of G and E factors played an important role, more important than single factors solely, to determine GPC, protein composition, accumulation and protein breakdown in wheat and barley grains. Differences in maturation times of wheat and barley plants, due to variation in G and E factors, were found to be a significant factor in determining GPC and protein composition. By governing the maturation times, using different genotypes, N application rates and timings, pre- and post-anthesis temperature, the options to govern GPC and protein composition increased. Early maturing cultivars, N application at anthesis and high pre-anthesis temperature resulted in high amounts of sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS)-extractable proteins (TOTE). Late maturing cultivars, N application at spike formation and high post-anthesis temperature resulted in high percentage of SDS- unextractable polymers into total polymers (%UPP). Pre-anthesis temperature influenced mainly TOTE, while post-anthesis temperature influenced mainly %UPP. Maturation time was found more important for determining GPC and protein composition at high temperature while at low temperature late nitrogen supply was of higher relevance. Differences in the buildup of TOTE and polymeric proteins were found to initiate from 12 days after anthesis and thereafter the build-up rate pertained throughout the grain maturation period. In barley, breakdown of proteins at malting were found dependent on plant maturation time and GPC i.e. higher breakdown rate at higher GPC. A negative correlation was found between GY and TOTE and between TOTE and %UPP. The results from this thesis help to understand how GPC, protein composition, accumulation and breakdown are governed in wheat and barley by various G and E factors. Moreover, the results may help in creating a simulation based quality model in which both G and E factors can be used to model GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley.

Keywords: End-use quality, grain filling period, *Hordeum vulgare*, maturation time, time to flowering, *Triticum aestivum*,

Author's address: Ali Hafeez Malik, SLU, Department of Agrosystems, P.O. Box 104, SE 23053 Alnarp, Sweden *E-mail:* Ali.Malik@ slu.se and alimaaliik@yahoo.com

Dedication

To my mother Gulnar Andleeb and father Hafeez Ahmed Malik

Almighty Allah said:

"Whoever is given wisdom and knowledge is blessed with bounties in good

abundance" (Surah al-Baqarah, 2:272)

Contents

List	ist of Publications				
Abbr	reviations	10			
1	Background and introduction	12			
1.1	Importance of wheat and barley	12			
	1.1.1 History and domestication of wheat and barley	13			
	1.1.2 Uses of wheat and barley	13			
1.2	Grain composition	14			
	1.2.1 Wheat	14			
	1.2.2 Barley	16			
1.3	Factors affecting grain yield, protein concentration and composition in				
	wheat and barley grain	17			
2	Objectives	19			
3	Materials and Methods	20			
3.1	Plant material (Papers I-VII)	20			
3.2	Cultivation conditions (Papers I-VII)	20			
3.3	Nitrogen/protein concentration (Papers I, II, IV, VI)	21			
3.4	Protein composition (Papers II, III, IV, V, VI, VII)	21			
3.5	Specific protein composition (Paper V)	22			
3.6	Malting and endosperm modification (Papers II, VI)	22			
3.7	Statistical analyses (Papers I-VII)	22			
4	Results and discussion	23			
4.1	Factors influencing grain protein concentration and composition	23			
4.2	Relationships between grain yield, protein concentration and composition	26			
4.3	Build-up of proteins and relationship to protein concentration and				
	composition in mature grains	28			
4.4	Interactions of various factors in governing protein concentration and				
	composition	29			
4.5	Breakdown of proteins and relationship to protein concentration and				
	composition in mature grains	30			
4.6	Importance of various factors in governing grain protein concentration	21			
		SI			

4.7	Options for governing protein concentration and composition	32
4.8	Modelling grain protein concentration and grain composition	33
4.9	Relevance of the results for field cultivations of wheat and barley	34
5	Conclusions	35
6	Future prospects	37
Refe	rences	38
Ackn	owledgments	45

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Ali Hafeez Malik, Allan Andersson, Ramune Kuktaite, Muhammad Yaqub Mujahid, Bismillah Khan and Eva Johansson (2012). Genotypic variation in dry weight and nitrogen concentration of wheat plant parts; relations to grain yield and grain protein concentration. (*Manuscript*).
- II Ali Hafeez Malik, Lena Holm and Eva Johansson (2012). Soil and starter fertiliser affect yield and protein composition of malting barley. *(Submitted)*.
- III Ali Hafeez Malik, Maria Luisa Preito-Linde, Ramune Kuktaite, Allan Andersson and Eva Johansson (2011). Individual and interactive effects of genetic background and environmental conditions on amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins in wheat grain. *Czech Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding* 47: S186-S189.
- IV Ali Hafeez Malik, Ramune Kuktaite and Allan Andersson. Individual and combined effect of pre- and post-anthesis temperature on grain yield and protein composition of two malting barley cultivars. (*Manuscript*)
- V Ali Hafeez Malik, Maria Luisa Preito-Linde, Ramune Kuktaite, Allan Andersson and Eva Johansson (2011). Individual and interactive effects of cultivar maturation time, nitrogen regime and temperature level on accumulation of wheat grain proteins. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 91: 2192-2200.

- VI Ali Hafeez Malik, Lena Holm and Eva Johansson (2012). Governing plant development in barley: Relation to protein composition and break-down rates of the protein polymers during malting (*Manuscript*).
- VII Ali Hafeez Malik, Ramune Kuktaite and Eva Johansson (2012). Accumulation of proteins in the wheat grain: The combined effect of genetic and environmental factors and relation to bread-making quality. (Submitted).

Papers III and V are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Ali Hafeez Malik to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planned the experiment with supervisors, performed all experimental and practical work, evaluated and analysed the data and wrote the manuscript in collaboration with the co-authors.
- II Planned the experiment with supervisors, performed all experimental and practical work with one coauthor, evaluated and analysed the data and wrote the manuscript in collaboration with the co-authors.
- III Planned the experiment with supervisors, performed all experimental and practical work, evaluated and analysed the data and wrote the manuscript in collaboration with the co-authors.
- IV Evaluated and analysed the data and wrote the manuscript in collaboration with the co-authors.
- V Planned the experiment with supervisors, performed all experimental and practical work, evaluated and analysed the data and wrote the manuscript in collaboration with the co-authors.
- VI Planned the experiment with supervisors, performed all experimental and practical work, evaluated and analysed the data and wrote the manuscript in collaboration with the co-authors.
- VII Planned the experiment with supervisors, performed all experimental and practical work, evaluated and analysed the data and wrote the manuscript in collaboration with the co-authors.

Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ASPP	Amount and Size Distribution of Polymeric Proteins
CDMT	Cultivar determined plant maturation time
DAA	Days after anthesis
E	Environment
e	extractable
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
G	Genetic
GMP	Grain maturation period
GPC	Grain protein concentration
GY	Grain yield
HMW-GS	High Molecular Weight Glutenin Subunits
h	hours
kDa	Kilodalton
LMW-GS	Low Molecular Weight Glutenin Subunits
LTP	Lipid transfer protein
Mon/pol	Ratio of monomers to polymers
MP	Monomeric proteins
Ν	Nitrogen
NA	Nitrogen amount
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PDI	Protein disulphide isomerase
PP	Polymeric proteins
QTLs	Quantitative trait loci
RA	Relative addition rate of nitrogen
S	Sulphur
SAS	Statistical analysis system
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate
SCB	Statistiska centralbyrån
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
SE-HPLC	Size Exclusion High Performance Liquid Chromatography

SMP	Small monomeric proteins
TCA	Trichloroacetic acid
TOTE	Total SDS extractable proteins
TOTU	Total SDS un-extractable proteins
TSMP	Total small monomeric proteins (SDS extracted and un-extracted)
u	Un-extractable
%LargeUPP	Percentage of large un-extractable polymers into total large polymers
%LUMP	Percentage of large un-extractable monomers into total large monomers
%SUMP	Percentage of small un-extractable monomers into total small monomers
%UPP	Percentage of un-extractable polymers into total polymers

1 Background and introduction

In agriculture, cereals (especially wheat and barley) are considered important not only in terms of adaptability, production and consumption, but also in providing food and energy for humans and animals. It has been estimated that global cereal consumption directly provides about 50% of the necessary protein and energy within the human diet, with cereals providing an additional 25% of protein and energy via livestock intermediaries (Shewry, 2007). Between now and the year 2050, the human population is expected to increase to 9.5 billion and for this reason it will be necessary to increase agricultural and especially cereal production 1.7 fold (Hirel & Lea, 2011). Therefore, the challenge for the coming decades will be to develop cereal crops with high yields, but also with desirable quality and simultaneously with a focus on sustainability of the environment (Dyson, 1999). There are a number of factors e.g. genetic (G), environmental (E), agronomic etc. that affect the yield and quality of cereals. Thus, it is important to understand the background of differences caused by G and E factors, individually and in combination, on the yield and quality of wheat and barley in order to achieve profitable yields and quality for desirable end-uses.

1.1 Importance of wheat and barley

Cereals are the most important crops cultivated worldwide, with an annual production of 2229 million tons (FAO, 2010) and they account for the majority of products and end-products used in human diet. Wheat is one of the major world cereal crops, with a total global production of about 651 million tons in 2010 (FAO, 2010). Barley is ranked fourth in cereals grown worldwide reaching a cultivated area of 54 million hectares and with a total production of 152 million tons in 2010 (FAO, 2010). In Sweden too, wheat is one of the major cereal crops with an annual production of 2.2 million tons (SCB, 2011).

In terms of production, barley is the second largest cereal crop in Sweden after wheat, with an annual production of 1.4 million tons (SCB, 2011).

1.1.1 History and domestication of wheat and barley

The domestication of cereals started about 12,000 years ago when humans made the shift from hunting to plant cultivation for their survival during the Neolithic revolution (Shewry, 2009). The first agriculture practices have been attributed to Fertile Crescent - a region that covers modern day Israel, Jordan, Lebanon and western Syria, into south-east Turkey and along the Tigris and Euphrates rivers, into Iraq and the western flanks of Iran (Dubcovsky & Dvorak, 2007; Heun *et al.*, 1997).

The tribe Triticeae, which belongs to the grass family Gramineae (Kellogg, 2001), includes several of the world's most important cereal crops, such as wheat, barley, triticale and rye (Kawahara, 2009). Most commonly five genera *i.e. Aegilops, Elymus, Triticum, Secale* and *Hordeum* are included in the tribe Triticeae, irrespective of the classification system used. All 23 species of wheat belong to the genus *Triticum* and all 31 species of barley belong to the genus *Hordeum*, both genera form polyploidy series with a basic chromosome number x = 7 (Baden & Bothmer, 1994).

The wild species of *Triticum* are diploid i.e. *T. monococcum* with genome AA, *T. tauschii* (DD) and *T. speltoides* (SS) and their chromosome number is 2n = 2x = 14. The tetraploid species *i.e. T. turgidum* (AABB) have chromosome number 2n = 4x = 28 and the modern bread wheat *T. aestivum* (AABBDD) is hexaploid with chromosome number 2n = 6x = 42 (Zohary & Hopf, 1993). Due to the polyploid nature of wheat, there is great potential for genetic variation and about 17, 000 wheat cultivars had been produced in the beginning of 1970s (Feldman, 1976).

The cultivated barley, *Hordeum vulgare* L. ssp. *vulgare*, and its wild progenitor *H. vulgare* L.ssp. *spontaneum* are diploid species, with 2n=2x=14 chromosomes. Other *Hordeum* species are diploid, tetraploid (2n=4x=28) or hexaploid (2n=6x=42). Cultivated barley is divided into three subgroups, sixrow (*Hordeum vulgare*), two-row (*H. distichum*) and intermediate (*H. irregulare*), with both spring- and autumn-sown types. Barley is also classified as hulled or hulless by presence or absence of hull tightly adhering to the grain (Baik & Ullrich, 2008).

1.1.2 Uses of wheat and barley

Wheat, due to its unique baking qualities, taste and long shelf-life compared with other cereals such as barley, is the most preferred cereal crop for bread, noodles, pasta, *etc.* (Dewettinck *et al.*, 2008). About 100 million tons, of the

wheat produced annually, are traded internationally while the remainder is utilised within the country of origin (Shewry et al., 2012). In Sweden, a major proportion of the wheat produced is used for animal feed, whilst the rest is used either for bio-fuel production or for direct human consumption as bread, breakfast cereal, pasta, table wheat, *etc.* (Jordbruksverket, 2011).

About two-thirds of the barley grown worldwide is used for animal feed, one-third for malting purposes and around 2% for human food (Baik & Ullrich, 2008; Newman & Newman, 2006). The barley grain components with unique nutritional and industrial properties make barley suitable for malting and beer production (Xue *et al.*, 2008). According to end-use, barley is categorised as malting or feed type (Baik & Ullrich, 2008). Both two-row and six-row barley are considered sutiable for malting, but the best malt quality for beer is produced from two-row spring-sown barley varieties. The Swedish malting barley crop amounted 435600 tons in 2011 (www.vikingmalt.com).

1.2 Grain composition

1.2.1 Wheat

The wheat grain consists of starch (70-75%), water (14%), proteins (8-20%), non-starch polysaccharides (2-3%), lipids (2%), minerals (1.6%) and other smaller constituents such as antioxidants (Goesaert *et al.*, 2005).

Wheat proteins

On the basis of sequential extractions in a series of solvents, the proteins in wheat are classified into four types, namely albumins (water-soluble), globulins (salt-soluble), prolamins (aqueous alcohol-soluble) and glutelins (alkali-soluble) (Osborne, 1924). Wheat grain proteins are also classified into structural/metabolic (non-gluten) and storage (gluten) proteins (Shewry, 2003) (Figure 1).

The non-storage proteins albumins and globulins constitute 15-20% of the total wheat grain proteins and are responsible for enzymatic activity and starch breakdown (Singh & Skerritt, 2001; Pence *et al.*, 1954).

The storage proteins (gluten) constitute up to 80-85% of the total wheat grain proteins (Shewry *et al.*, 1995). Wheat storage proteins are synthesised as polypeptides on the polyribosomes, which are attached to the endoplasmic reticulum and are located in the starchy endosperm of the developing wheat kernel. After synthesis, the polypeptides are translocated to the lumen cavity, where disulphide bonding and protein folding occur (Shewry *et al.*, 2002). For deposition and transportation of proteins, two pathways have been suggested: 1) via the Golgi apparatus to the vacuole and then to the final deposition place;

or 2) directly to the protein bodies (Shewry, 1999; Parker, 1980). Gluten plays an important role in determining the bread-making quality of wheat due to its visco-elastic properties (MacRitchie, 1984). The main components of the gluten proteins are gliadins and glutenins in wheat (Shewry & Tatham, 1990).



Figure 1. Wheat protein classification (adapted from Shewry & Tatham, 1990. HMW=High molecular weight, LMW= Low molecular weight, S= sulphur

Gliadins constitute 40-45% of the total wheat grain proteins and are monomeric in nature. On the basis of molecular mobility at low pH, gliadins are classified into four groups, α , β , γ and ω . The molecular weight of gliadins ranges between 30 and 80 kDa (Shewry *et al.*, 1986). According to sequences, composition of amino acids and molecular weights, gliadins are further grouped into α/β -, γ -, ω 1-, ω 2- and ω 5-gliadins (Wieser, 2007). Gliadins are responsible for giving the viscosity to the wheat flour and are less elastic than glutenins (Wieser, 2007).

Glutenins constitute around 40-45% of the total wheat grain proteins and are extractable in dilute acetic acid. Glutenins are polymeric in nature (Field *et al.*, 1983). In wheat, two classes of glutenin subunits, high molecular weight-glutenin subunits (HMW-GS) and low molecular weight-glutenin subunits (LMW-GS) are present. On the reduction of disulphide bonds, in glutenins, by using reducing agents, HMW-GS and LMW-GS are released (Wang *et al.*, 2006). HMW-GS constitute around 10% and LMW-GS constitute 40% of the

gluten proteins (glutenins and gliadins; Payne, 1986). HMW-GS and LMW-GS have been found to correlate with bread-making quality and gluten strength (Gupta *et al.*, 1993).

1.2.2 Barley

The barley grain contains starch (63-65%), water (10-15%), proteins (9-13%), non-starchy polysaccharides (9-11%), lipids (1-2%), minerals (2%) and other smaller constituents (Chibbar *et al.*, 2004; MacGregor & Fincher, 1993).

Barley proteins

Similarly as in wheat, the proteins in barley are divided into four groups on the basis of their extractability, *i.e.* albumins (water-soluble), globulins (salt-soluble), hordeins or prolamins (alcohol-soluble), and glutelins (alkali-soluble; Osborne, 1924; Figure 2).

The content of non-storage proteins, *i.e.* albumins and globulins, in the barley grain is somewhat higher, 11% and 15%, respectively, than that in wheat. However, albumins and globulins have the same functions in barley as in wheat (Steiner *et al.*, 2011; Briggs & Hough, 1981). On a functional basis, some important albumins in barley are z-proteins and lipid transfer proteins (LTP) (Steiner *et al.*, 2011). These z-proteins and LTP play an important role in beer foam formation and stability (Evans *et al.*, 1999).



Figure 2. Barley protein classification. Adapted from Steiner et al. (2011). HMW= High molecular weight.

Barley glutelins constitute 30% of the total barley protein (Shewry et al., 1988). The content of prolamins in barley (i.e. hordeins) constitutes 37-44% of the total barley grain proteins (Osman et al., 2002; Shewry et al., 1995; Rahman et al., 1982). Similarly to the gluten proteins, the barley storage proteins, the glutelins and prolamins, are also synthesised in the rough endoplasmic reticulum during mid-to-late grain filling (Rahman et al., 1982) and accumulate in the protein bodies inside the endomembrane system (Matthews & Miflin, 1980). Hordeins are divided into different fractions according to their size and amino acid composition. The A-hordeins (15-25 kDa) are not considered as true storage proteins because of the presence of protease inhibitors and α-amylases (Tatham & Shewry, 1995). The B-hordeins (molecular weight 35-46 kDa), the γ -hordeins (molecular weight <20 kDa), the C-hordeins (molecular weight 55-75 kDa) and the D-hordeins (molecular weight >100 kDa) account for 70-90%, 1-2%, 10-30% and 2-4% of the total hordein fraction, respectively (Shewry et al., 1985). The B-hordein fraction can be further subdivided into B1, B2 and B3 (Skerritt & Janes, 1992). The Chordeins and some B-hordeins appear as monomers; however, most B-hordeins and D-hordeins are linked with each other by inter-chain disulphide bonds and appear as polymers (Celus et al., 2006)

1.3 Factors affecting grain yield, protein concentration and composition in wheat and barley grain

Higher grain yield (GY) is often associated with lower grain protein concentration (GPC) in wheat and barley (Simmonds, 1995). However, low GPC at the expense of high GY is undesirable. One of the most important breeding goals nowadays is to increase GYs without adversely affecting GPC by selection and breeding of genotypes from old and new germplasm (Hirel & Lea, 2011). GPC can also be increased by greater mobilisation of N from vegetative parts, including roots, to reproductive parts. Thus, it is important to understand the relationship between dry weight and N concentration in plant parts (including roots) and GPC and GY.

GPC and grain protein composition are considered the most essential determinants of bread-making quality in wheat (Finney & Barmore, 1948). The GPC of wheat is governed not only by the G background but also by E factors *e.g.* nitrogen (N) fertiliser, precipitation and temperature conditions during growth and development (Zhang *et al.*, 2001; Johansson *et al.* 2001; McDonald, 1992). In malting barley, the GPC should be lower than 11.5% in order to achieve the desirable malting quality (Palmer, 2000; Bertholdsson, 1999), while in bread wheat a high GPC is often desired (Johansson &

Svensson, 1998; Finney & Barmore, 1948). It is quite difficult to keep the GPC in an acceptable range as GPC is influenced by cultivation and agronomic practices, as well as E factors such as N availability *etc.* (Zhang *et al.*, 2001; Bertholdsson & Stoy 1995; Eagles *et al.* 1995).

Since GPC varies widely as an effect of different E and G factors, the importance of grain protein composition cannot be neglected in relation to enduse quality purposes. Specific protein composition in wheat and barley is determined by G factors, but the amount of different protein groups, the amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins (ASPP) and monomeric proteins are influenced by E factors *i.e.* N fertiliser and temperature, as well as G factors (Johansson *et al.*, 2001, 2005, 2008). In barley, protein composition has also been found to be influenced by different G and E factors, as is malting quality (Wang *et al.*, 2007).

Growth and development stages of the wheat and barley crop before and after flowering may play a significant role in GPC and protein composition in the grain. In earlier studies the rate and duration of grain maturation period (GMP) have been found to affect the GPC, protein accumulation and composition in wheat and barley (Johansson et al., 2005, 2008; Dreccer et al., 1997). However, few studies to date have focused on the connections between maturation times (*i.e.* time to anthesis and GMP) and protein parameters in wheat and barley. Plant maturation times are influenced not only by G factors but also to a large extent by E factors (e.g. Wang et al., 2007; Conry, 1997). In wheat and barley, the relationship between maturation time and GPC and protein composition has not been investigated in any great depth. Many investigations have been carried out on the individual influence of G and E factors on GY, GPC, protein accumulation and protein composition in the grains of wheat and barley (Wang et al., 2007; Johansson et al., 2005, 2008). However, few studies have investigated the interactive impact of G and E factors on GY, GPC, protein accumulation and composition in wheat and barley grains. Moreover, very limited investigations have been carried out on the influence of G and E factors on the breakdown of proteins during the malting process in barley.

2 Objectives

The main aim of this doctoral thesis was to identify the options that can be used to govern GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley grain by the use of G and E factors. To reach this main aim, focus of this thesis work has been to study how individual and interactive effects of G and E factors determine GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley. Further, the influence of G and E factors on build-up and breakdown of proteins during cultivation and at malting was evaluated. Importance and interactions of various G and E factors for build-up of proteins, for final GPC and protein composition at maturity and during breakdown of proteins at malting have also been investigated.

Specific objectives were:

- To evaluate genotypic variation in dry weight and N concentration in wheat plant parts (especially root dry weight and root N concentration and their relationships with GY and GPC.
- To evaluate the individual and interactive effect of different locations, optimised nutrient composition, G, agronomic and E factors on the growth, GY, GPC, protein accumulation and composition of wheat and spring malting barley.
- To evaluate the individual and interactive influence of G, agronomic and E factors in governing the maturation times of wheat and barley plants.
- To study the impact of G and E factors on the degradation of polymeric proteins into peptides and amino acids in malted grains of barley during the malting process.
- To study how interactions between G and E factors affect the accumulation and composition of proteins in wheat and barley grains.

3 Materials and Methods

3.1 Plant material (Papers I-VII)

The investigations were carried out with wheat and barley cultivars with different genetic backgrounds, origins (Finland, Norway, Pakistan, and Sweden) and release years (Paper I-VII). Detailed descriptions of the wheat and barley cultivars can be found in the individual papers.

3.2 Cultivation conditions (Papers I-VII)

The wheat and barley plants in the experiments were grown in either soil or hydroponic cultivations to full maturity in controlled and daylight climate chambers. In several of the soil-based cultivations, the wheat and barley plants were planted in large boxes to resemble field conditions. Moreover, N was broadcast at different growth stages of the wheat and barley plants. In Paper II, the soil was dried before sowing to minimise the influence of microbial activity on soil chemical profile. The hydroponic cultivations were performed according to Andersson & Holm (2011), Johansson *et al.* (1994) and Mattsson *et al.* (1991). In the hydroponic systems, the N supply was controlled by daily dosage and the nitrogen amount (NA) was set according to the equation:

$$NA_t = NA_{t-1} eRA$$

where NA_t is the NA of the plant at day t and NA_{t-1} the NA at day t-1 (with the daily N dose calculated from $NA_t - NA_{t-1}$) and RA is the relative addition rate of N, *i.e.* the rate at which N is supplied to the plants (NA added plant⁻¹ day⁻¹). RA was altered during the phenological development of the plants. When the RA is kept at a growth-limiting level, the N added daily is taken up within 24 h and is equal to the relative increase in plant N amount (Oscarson, 1996). The N supply was thus intended to mimic the N uptake in the field-grown wheat.

3.3 Nitrogen/protein concentration (Papers I, II, IV, VI)

For measuring N concentration in different plant parts, these were dried, weighed, ground and analysed for N using the Dumas method through volatilisation of N in a Carlo Erba N analyser. To calculate GPC in the grains, the N concentration was multiplied by a conversion factor of 6.25 according to Mosse (1990).

3.4 Protein composition (Papers II, III, IV, V, VI, VII)

The protein composition of wheat and barley grains was evaluated as ASPP according to Gupta *et al.* (1993) by applying size exclusion-high performance liquid chromatography (SE-HPLC) with a two-step procedure according to Johansson *et al.* (2005). The first step involves extraction of SDS-extractable (e) proteins, while the second step involves extraction of SDS-unextractable (u) proteins by sonication. Polymeric proteins (PP) and monomeric proteins (MP) were extracted with dilute SDS phosphate buffer. A detailed description of the HPLC system and the phase used *etc.* can be found in Papers II-VII.



Figure 3. Example of SE-HPLC chromatogram of SDS-extractable proteins (—) and SDSunextractable proteins (---). The chromatogram is divided into two parts, comprising polymeric proteins (PP) and monomeric proteins (MP), respectively. AU=Absorbance units of UV detector at 210 nm.

Moreover, different protein fractions were calculated according to area under the chromatogram as follows:

- Total SDS-extractable proteins (TOTE) = ePP + eMP
- Total SDS-unextractable proteins (TOTU) = uPP + uMP
- Total small monomeric proteins (TSMP) = eMP (small) + uMP (small)
- Percentage of large unextractable polymeric protein in total large polymeric proteins (%Large UPP) = uLPP/(uLPP + eLPP) × 100
- Percentage of total unextractable polymeric protein in total polymeric proteins (% UPP) = uPP /(ePP + uPP) × 100
- ٠

- Percentage of large unextractable monomers in total large monomers (%LUMP) = uLMP/(uLMP + eLMP) ×100
- Percentage of small unextractable monomeric protein in total small monomeric protein (% SUMP) = uSMP/(uSMP + eSMP) ×100
- Mon/pol (ratio of monomers to polymers) [(SDS-extractable MP+SDS-unextractable MP)/(SDS-extractable PP+SDS-unextractable PP)]

3.5 Specific protein composition (Paper V)

The specific grain protein composition (HMW-GS) in wheat grains was determined with SDS-PAGE according to the methods and scoring described by Payne *et al.* (1983). Coomassie Brilliant Blue solution with 10% ethanol and 8% trichloroacetic (TCA) acid was used to stain the gels while to destain the gels, a water solution with 4% TCA was used for 24 h to obtain a clear banding pattern according to Johansson *et al.* (1993).

3.6 Malting and endosperm modification (Papers II, VI)

Malting was carried out in the micro-malting plant at SLU, Alnarp, Sweden (Danbrew Consult Ltd, Copenhagen V, Denmark) according to Henry & McLean (1984) in three steps *i.e.* steeping, germination and kilning. In order to check how much protein had been modified in the endosperm during malting, endosperm modification was determined according to Henry (1989). This involved embedding and sectioning the grain, staining with Calcofluor and Fast Green and observation under fluorescent light.

3.7 Statistical analyses (Papers I-VII)

MS Excel and the statistical analysis system (SAS) (SAS, 2004) together with Minitab were used for figures and data analysis, respectively. Data evaluation was done by Spearman rank correlation analysis, analysis of variance (ANNOVA), principal component analysis (PCA) and regression analysis using SAS and Minitab statistical software (Multivariate, v. 16, Minitab Inc.).

4 Results and discussion

4.1 Factors influencing grain protein concentration and composition

GPC and protein composition are well known to be governed by G and E factors in both wheat and barley (Zhang *et al.*, 2001; Johansson & Svensson, 1998; Eagles *et al.*, 1995; Kramer, 1979). The contribution of various G and E factors to quality are ambiguous in different studies. Studies on G influences (on GPC and protein composition) not only include everything from specific genes to quantitative trait loci (QTLs), but also cultivar variations and plant physiology-related variations (Uauy *et al.*, 2006; Johansson *et al.*, 2005, 2008; Blanco *et al.*, 2002; Payne *et al.*, 1983). As regards E influences on GPC and protein composition, several studies refer to temperature, climate and agro-ecological conditions, although some studies also focus on influences of fertiliser (especially N), soil properties, year or location effects and others consider agronomy-based variations (Vázquez *et al.*, 2012; Oelofse *et al.*, 2010; Wang *et al.*, 2007; Johansson *et al.*, 2005, 2008; Dupont & Altenbach, 2003).

It is well established that GPC in wheat and barley is under the control of G factors, with a number of major genes and QTLs seeming to be involved (Bogard *et al.*, 2011; Ullrich, 2010; Uauy *et al.*, 2006). The G influence on GPC might be directly genetically governed, meaning that one gene in a certain cultivar results in a higher GPC than in another cultivar due to the presence of that certain gene (Uauy *et al.*, 2006; Joppa & Cantrell, 1990). However, in most cases, genes involved in the amount of GPC are related to other characters of the plant (*e.g.* N assimilation and transportation, *etc.*), which thereafter influence the GPC (Habash *et al.*, 2007; Levy & Feldman, 1987; Cox *et al.*, 1986). In this thesis, no studies were undertaken to evaluate the influences of certain genes on GPC. Instead, the emphasis was on evaluating

the background of GPC by the use of various genotypes and the variation in certain characters that might be of relevance for determination of GPC. The results presented in the thesis show a large variation in GPC among genotypes (Figure 4; Paper I). However, no plant physiological relationships for this variation were found other than a negative correlation with grain weight (Paper I). Furthermore, plant maturation times were found to correlate with GPC (Papers IV, V, VI and VII). In both wheat and spring malting barley, early maturation times resulted in high GPC or TOTE (Papers IV, V, VI and VII). The amounts of TOTE and GPC were found to be strongly correlated in this thesis (Papers II, IV and VII) and also in previous investigations (Godfrey *et al.*, 2010; Johansson *et al.*, 2005, 2008).

A number of E factors (starter fertiliser, N amount and timing, pre- and post-temperature and soil) were evaluated in this thesis for their influences on GPC. Fertiliser treatments, both in terms of starter fertiliser and N amount in total, were found to influence GPC to a small degree or not at all (Papers II, VI). However, N timing in terms of late N application was found to increase GPC in wheat and barley (Papers IV, V, VI and VII), as also reported previously in a number of studies (Johansson et al., 2001, 2003, 2005; Wieser & Seilmeier, 1998). Late N application leads to increased and late transport of N to the grains and therefore directly influences the N concentration in the grain (Ferrise *et al.*, 2010; Bancal *et al.*, 2008). The choice of soil directly influenced the GPC in the grains, which could probably have been expected due to the variations in N content and mineralisation from various soils (Paper II). Temperature before anthesis was found to influence GPC substantially, while temperature after anthesis was of less importance (Paper IV). An increased temperature before anthesis shortens the plant maturation time until anthesis and thereby leads to less assimilation of carbohydrates in the plant (Bertholdsson, 1999). A lower accumulation of assimilates thereafter leads to a lower starch accumulation in the grain and thereby to higher GPC (Savin & Nicolas, 1996).



Figure 4. Mean grain protein concentration (GPC, %) of 19 wheat genotypes with different origins and release years (Paper I).

Grain protein composition was determined in this thesis as a number of protein factors, although most emphasis was placed on %UPP (Papers II, IV, V and VI), as this parameter is known to correlate with gluten strength and has been widely studied (Johansson, 2002; Marchylo et al., 1989). Percentage of UPP is known to be G-determined by its relationship to specific protein composition (Gupta & MacRitchie, 1994; Shewry et al., 1992), but additional G influences are also evident due to its variation between genotypes with the same specific protein composition (Johansson et al., 2002, 2003). In this thesis, the influence of cultivar-determined plant maturation time (CDMT) on %UPP is clearly demonstrated for the first time (Papers V, VI and VII). Late maturation time of a cultivar was correlated with an increased %UPP (Paper VII) and maturation time explained variation in %UPP to a higher extent than specific protein composition. The reason for the relationships between CDMT and %UPP might be due to the negative correlation between TOTE (GPC) and % UPP (Table 1; Papers II, IV, V and VI). An increased GPC is often related to a higher increase in ethanol-soluble proteins (monomeric proteins) than nonethanol soluble proteins (polymeric proteins) (Johansson et al., 2003; Wieser & Seilmeier, 1998).

Among the E factors evaluated here (see above), it was mainly N application timings and temperature during GMP that influenced %UPP (Papers V and VI). Early N application led to increased %UPP (Papers V and VI), which could be explained by the fact that early N availability for the plant prolongs its maturation time. Thus, a similar explanation could be applicable for early N application as for CDMT. The fact that increased temperature

during GMP resulted in increased %UPP can be due to a number of reasons. First, the enzymatic activity, including PDI (protein disulphide isomerase), involved in protein polymerisation might be altered, since enzymes are normally temperature-dependent (Every *et al.*, 2003; Hurkman *et al.*, 2003). Secondly, water content in the grain is well known to influence %UPP (Naeem *et al.*, 2012; Johansson *et al.*, 2008) and the hydrogen bonds between proteins are known to be influenced by the presence of water (Stryer, 1981). Thirdly, there is some influence of the temperature during GMP on GPC (Papers IV, V and VI and VII), and changes in GPC also create changes in %UPP, as described above.

Table 1. Spearman rank correlation between GPC and protein composition in spring malting barley grains grown at two different locations with and without starter fertiliser application (Paper II)

	TOTE	%UPP	%LargeUPP	Mon/pol
GPC	0.59	-0.52	-0.59	0.60
P value	0.0024	0.0096	0.0025	0.0019

*, **, ***= Significant at P<0.05, 0.01, 0.005

4.2 Relationships between grain yield, protein concentration and composition

The negative relationship between GY and GPC is well known in cereals (Simmonds, 1995). A strong negative correlation was observed in GY and GPC in our investigations with wheat and barley (Papers I, II and VI). GY is mainly dependent on the carbohydrate deposition in the grain, while N deposition is mainly responsible for GPC (Jenner *et al.*, 1991). Although starch and protein synthesis are seen as independent events (Jenner *et al.*, 1991), a negative trend between GY and GPC describes the inter-relationship between carbon and N metabolism (Acreche & Slafer, 2009). In this thesis, GY and GPC were evaluated in a number of genotypes. Genotypes having a relatively high GY, and combined with either low or high GPC, were found (Figure 4; Paper I). Genotypes with a desired combination of GY and GPC are of relevance both in bread wheat and malting barley, since both require high GY but bread wheat requires high GPC and malting barley requires low GPC.



Figure 5. Mean values of grain protein concentration (%) and grain weight (GW) in 19 wheat genotypes with different origins and release years (Paper I).

The relationship between GY and grain protein composition in wheat and barley has not previously been investigated. In spring malting barley (Paper II and IV), GY was found to be significantly and negatively correlated with SDS-extractable proteins. However, a positive correlation was observed between GY and SDS-unextractable polymeric proteins (Table 2). Possible relationships between GY and %UPP can most likely be explained by the fact that there is a relationship between GY and GPC, and between GPC and %UPP. In governing GPC and protein composition, GY is of little relevance.

Table 2. Spearman rank correlation between grain yield, grain protein concentration and grain protein composition in spring malting barley grains grown at two different locations with and without starter fertiliser application (Paper II)

	GPC	TOTE	TSMP	TOTU	%UPP	%LargeUPP	Mon/pol
Grain yield	-0.95	-0.65	-0.61	-0.10	0.62	0.71	-0.59
P value	<.0001	0.0005	0.0013	0.6251	0.0012	<.0001	0.0021

*, **, ***= Significant at P<0.05, 0.01, 0.005

4.3 Build-up of proteins and relationship to protein concentration and composition in mature grains

From previous investigations it is well known that variations in E factors such as N and temperature are responsible for the build-up of ASPP and monomeric proteins during the GMP (Johansson *et al.*, 2005, 2008). The build-up and polymerisation of the gluten proteins have been reported to be a predetermined event (Johansson *et al.*, 2005, 2008; Stone & Nicolas, 1996). Temperature-sums have been cited as the main factor in the onset of the build-up of polymers (Triboi *et al.*, 2003; Stone and Nicolas, 1996). The results presented in this thesis confirm the predetermined nature of the grain protein polymers in wheat (Papers III and V). Furthermore, both the GPC and the protein composition in terms of *e.g.* %UPP were found to be largely dependent on E factors during plant maturation (Papers III and V).



Figure 6. Build-up of relative amounts of total SDS-extractable proteins (TOTE) and SDSunextractable polymeric protein in total un-extractable polymeric protein (%UPP) from 4 to 50 days after anthesis for selected combinations of G and E factors resulting in the highest versus the lowest amounts of TOTE (6a and 6b) and %UPP (6c and 6d), respectively.

However, by selecting G and E factors that resulted in high and low TOTE and %UPP at maturity, this thesis showed for the first time that it is possible to differentiate a starting time for the plant when the level of GPC and polymerisation of the proteins are settled (Figure 6a-6d; Papers III and V). Thus, a high or low level of TOTE and %UPP at maturity was settled already at 12 days after anthesis (DAA; Papers III and V). Before 12 DAA there was no clear variation in the build-up of TOTE and %UPP, although the plants were differently E-treated during the whole GMP (Papers III and V). However, from 12 DAA the variation in the speed of build-up of TOTE and %UPP started and continued throughout the GMP. For the combinations of G and E factors resulting in high or low TOTE and high %UPP, at maturity, the increase was steady from 12 DAA. For the combinations of G and E factors resulting in low %UPP at maturity, no increase in %UPP could be seen during the whole GMP (Papers III and V).

4.4 Interactions of various factors in governing protein concentration and composition

In most previous studies, single G or E factors have been evaluated for their impact on GPC and protein composition (Johansson & Svensson, 1998, 1999; Peterson *et al.*, 1992). The work in this thesis comprises by far the most thorough examination to date of how various G and E factors interact in determining GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley. One conclusion that can be drawn from the investigations within this thesis is that the GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley are very similar and that the two species react similarly to G and E factors and their interactions (Papers II-VII).

Generally, a combination of G and E factors such as CDMT, variation in temperature before and after anthesis, N amount and timing, soil and starter fertiliser showed a larger impact on GPC and protein composition than any of these individual factors alone (Papers II, IV, V, VI and VII). More specifically, application of starter fertiliser using soil originating from Laxmans Åkarp resulted in higher GPC in spring malting barley than when a combination of starter fertiliser and/or soils of other origin was used (Paper II).

High amounts of TOTE in wheat were found to be correlated with a combination of early maturing cultivars, late nitrogen application and low temperature during GMP (Paper V). Furthermore, a combination of late sowing, 50/50% N at sowing/flowering and high temperature during GMP resulted in high TOTE in mature barley grains (Paper VI). In addition, high pre-anthesis temperature and short time to anthesis resulted in high amounts of TOTE in barley grains (Paper IV). Thus, all factors resulting in a reduced plant

maturation time before anthesis contributed to a higher TOTE and probably to a lower GY (although the latter was not investigated in this thesis).

As to protein composition, combinations of cultivars with relatively late maturation time together with early nitrogen application resulted in high %UPP (Paper V). Furthermore, %UPP in mature barley grains was found to be governed by a combination of sowing times, N application rate and timings and temperature during the GMP in barley grains (Paper VI). Low %UPP was obtained by a combination of late sowing time, 50% N at sowing and high temperature during the GMP (Paper VI). It was also found that high post-anthesis temperature and longer CDMT were associated with high %UPP (Paper IV).

4.5 Breakdown of proteins and relationship to protein concentration and composition in mature grains

The breakdown of proteins in cereal grains during germination of the seed is important to produce the coming generation of plants (Yang et al., 2007; Müntz et al., 2001). Thus without the breakdown of proteins, there will be no germination to produce the next generation of plants and the genus/cultivar will cease. However, if the breakdown of proteins is too rapid, this is often connected with the rapid breakdown of starch, and thus problems of preharvest sprouting, low falling number and poor quality will arise (Mares & Mrva, 2008). Furthermore, during the malting process of barley, the breakdown of grain proteins into peptides and amino acids by a range of proteolytic enzymes is considered to be of critical importance in determining malt quality (Jones, 2005; Baxter, 1981). The breakdown of proteins during malting provides sufficient nutrients for yeasts to grow rapidly and to metabolise sugars into alcohol (Steiner et al., 2011; Celus et al., 2006). However, complete degradation of all barley proteins during malting and beer production is not desirable. Too low protein content in the beer (the main product made from malt) may result in a product that has insufficient foaming ability, mouth feel and other required characteristics (Steiner et al., 2011; Celus et al., 2006; Jones, 2005). The desirable proteins in the beer are mainly some specific albumins, e.g. z-proteins and LTP (Steiner et al., 2011; Silva et al., 2008; Evans et al., 1999).

This thesis shows for the first time that certain G- and E-related influences during plant maturation affect the breakdown rates of various types of proteins at malting (Papers II and VI). Soil from specific locations combined with/without starter fertiliser (Paper II), variations in CDMT (Paper VI) and a combination of sowing time and N application timing (Paper VI) were found to influence the breakdown rates of the proteins. The breakdown of proteins during malting was high in grains grown in soil from Laxmans Åkarp combined with no starter fertiliser and in soil from Lunnarp combined with starter fertiliser (Paper II). Furthermore, extensive degradation of TOTE was associated with late sowing, 50/50% N at sowing/flowering and high temperature during GMP (Paper VI). In addition, a decrease in plant maturation time resulted in extensive degradation of proteins during the malting process (Paper VI). The results presented in this thesis indicate a higher breakdown rate of proteins at higher levels of TOTE and lower %UPP (Papers II and VI). However, this indication needs to be confirmed by additional investigations. It is probable that the negative influence of high GPC in malting barley on beer quality can be attributed to the higher breakdown rate of proteins at higher protein levels. A higher breakdown rate of proteins might result in higher amounts of free amino acids and peptides within the malted barley. These smaller protein-related compounds can easily be transferred into the finished beer and thus influence the beer quality.

4.6 Importance of various factors in governing grain protein concentration and protein composition

In a number of previous studies, the individual importance of G and E factors has been evaluated to determine GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley grains (Andersson & Holm, 2011; Wieser & Seilmeier, 1998; Payne & Lawrence, 1983). However, only a few studies have evaluated the importance of various factors and their relations/interactions on GPC (Johansson et al., 2003, 2001). Even fewer have evaluated the importance of various G and E factors and their relations/interactions for grain protein factors (Johansson et al., 2005, 2008). Of those studies evaluating more than one individual factor, most have examined the importance of genotype and environment and their interactions (Johansson et al., 2001, 2005, 2008). This thesis represents a first attempt to evaluate the importance and interactions of a number of various Gand E-related factors on GPC and protein composition (Papers IV and VII). By using barley, it was possible to conclude that pre-anthesis temperature is the main determinant of TOTE, while cultivar and post-anthesis temperature are of higher importance for %UPP. The growing medium used, generally, played a low role in governing the protein parameters (Paper IV). In wheat, the temperature during cultivation highly influenced the importance of various additional G and E factors on protein parameters (Papers V and VII). At high temperature during GMP, the combination of CDMT and N application timings explained 59% of the variation in TOTE, while at low temperature during GMP only 22% of the variation in TOTE was explained by the same factors (Paper VII). The relative influence of CDMT and N application timings on %UPP was also found to be temperature-dependent. For %UPP, 50% of the variation was caused by CDMT combined with N application timings at low temperature, and only 36% of the variation was explained by the same factors at high temperature (Paper VII). Further, at high temperature, CDMT was the factor of highest relevance for determining TOTE and %UPP while at low temperature; late N application was of higher relevance.

4.7 Options for governing protein concentration and composition

As wheat and barley crops are important for growers, it would be beneficial if the GPC and grain protein composition of the grain produced could be governed using selections of G and E in order to obtain beneficial quality. Increased knowledge as to how various G and E factors can be used to govern GPC and protein composition is therefore of relevance. This thesis shows that any G and E factor that influences the plant maturation time until anthesis also influences TOTE (Papers V, VI and VII). A decrease in the length of plant maturation time until anthesis increases the amount of TOTE (Papers V, VI and VII). It seems that the various G and E factors that affect plant maturation time until anthesis, and thereby TOTE, interact with each other. Furthermore, the greater the number of factors influencing the plant maturation time in the same direction, the higher the effect obtained, although the effect was not totally additive in the present thesis work (Papers V, VII and VII). For a farmer or grower, there are thus several options available for influencing plants towards a shorter plant maturation time until anthesis if an increase in GPC (TOTE) is desired. These options include:

1) Selecting a genotype with short time to anthesis

2) Selecting a soil with not too much N availability early in the season

3) Selecting a nitrogen application regime with a relatively low dose of N applied earlier in the season.

However, a negative relationship also exists between GPC and GY and this has to be borne in mind when manipulating plant maturation time in order to increase GPC. A reduction in plant maturation time might also decrease GY.

This thesis shows that it is slightly more complicated to govern grain protein composition than GPC (Papers II-VII). The %UPP was found to be highly influenced by genotype and temperature after anthesis (Papers IV, V and VII). The results on the influence of genotype and temperature during GMP on %UPP are mainly confirmation of previous findings (Johansson *et al.*, 2005). However, this thesis also shows the variation in the effects of various G

and E factors for the determination of %UPP at various temperatures (Papers IV and VII) and the dependency of %UPP on TOTE (Papers II, IV, V, VI and VII). Therefore, to govern protein composition and thereby quality, choice of cultivar has to be the first consideration for the grower, while decreased TOTE should be governed by E factors as described above to obtain increased %UPP (*e.g.* for gluten strength; Johansson, 2002; Marchylo *et al.*, 1989). Furthermore, the prevailing temperature for the area of cultivation should be recorded and depending on this temperature, various E factors can be chosen. Thus, %UPP is increased if there is an increase in temperature of 7°C, *i.e.* from 17/14 °C to 24/21 °C from spike formation and in the whole GMP (Paper VII). To increase %UPP at low temperatures (*i.e.* 17/14 °C), a cultivar with long maturation time could be chosen and combined with N application at spike formation (Paper VII).

4.8 Modelling grain protein concentration and grain composition

In agricultural and plant science, crop simulation models are being used increasingly as they provide the best-known approach for integrating the understanding of complex plant processes as influenced by E factors (Sinclair & Muchow, 2001). Several investigations have been carried out on creation of simulation quality models for modelling GPC and protein composition in wheat (Martre et al., 2003, 2006; Jamieson and Semenov, 2000). Simulation models have been considered a powerful tool in investigating the individual and interactive influence of E factors on GPC and protein composition; moreover, these models also give the most powerful insights if their descriptions are mechanistic. SiriusQuality1 model (derived from Sirius model) has been used successfully to simulate GPC and protein accumulation and composition in wheat by using different E factors e.g. pre- and post-anthesis N application rate and timings, post-anthesis temperature etc. (Martre et al., 2003, 2006). However, most of the work done previously to create quality models, for modelling GPC and protein composition in wheat, involves the E factors. Not much work is done in order to simulate quality models by using combination of G and E factors in relation to GPC and protein composition. During this thesis work, some attempts have been carried out in order to model GPC and protein composition in wheat. One desire was to create a data modeling system in which the farmer should be able to submit information about the situation on the farm, about type of soil, mean temperature and precipitation for various periods of time etc. and thereafter the computer based system should suggest which cultivar and cultivation parameters to use. Although such a system would be feasible, it was not fully reached during the present thesis work. The results from this thesis can partly be used to model GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley by generating a simulation based quality model. However, additional experiments will also be needed in order to collect enough numbers and variation in parameters to catch the pattern of the variation.

4.9 Relevance of the results for field cultivations of wheat and barley

The results from this thesis showed the importance of the G and E factors in governing GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley. However, all experiments have been carried out in controlled conditions, in green-houses and climate chambers of various types. Most likely the overall amount of results are applicable also during field conditions. However, there is a need to evaluate the main conclusions from this thesis work in field as well, to establish relationships of relevance even during such conditions. Therefore, field trials should be conducted in various climatic conditions, with varying N application and availability, using various genotypes and taking notes on plant maturation times and measurements of TOTE and %UPP.

5 Conclusions

- CDMT was found to influence TOTE and %UPP. Early maturation time of a cultivar was found related with high TOTE while late maturation time correlated with an increased %UPP. The maturation time explained variation in %UPP to a higher extent than specific protein composition did.
- Temperature before anthesis was found to influence the GPC substantially, while temperature after anthesis was found to influence %UPP. A high temperature before anthesis resulted in high GPC or TOTE while a high temperature after anthesis resulted in high %UPP.
- Soil originating from different locations played an important role in influencing the early growth stages, GY, GPC, protein composition and breakdown of proteins during malting of spring malting barley.
- Genotypes were found having a relatively high GY, combined with either low or high GPC
- From 12 DAA the variation in the speed of the build-up of TOTE and %UPP started and continued throughout the GMP. For the combinations of G and E factors resulting in high TOTE and high %UPP, at maturity, the increase was steady from 12 DAA. For the combinations of G and E factors resulting in low %UPP at maturity, no increase in %UPP could be seen during the whole GMP
- A combination of G and E factors such as CDMT, variation in temperature before and after anthesis, N amount and timing, soil and starter fertilizer showed a larger impact on GPC and protein

composition than individual influence of each of the factors. However the contribution of the different G and E factors was not straightly additive. All factors resulting in a reduced plant maturation time before anthesis contributed to a higher TOTE while the influence on %UPP was more complex.

- G and E factors influencing the plant maturation time also affected the breakdown rates of various types of proteins at malting. A higher breakdown rate of the proteins at higher levels of TOTE and lower %UPP was indicated.
- The temperature during the cultivations was largely influencing the importance of various G and E factors on the protein parameters. At high temperature CDMT was of higher relevance for determining TOTE and %UPP than at low temperature, as then late N application was of higher relevance.
- Maturation time can be manipulated and governed by the combination of agronomic and E factors and thereby the GPC and protein composition in wheat and barley.

6 Future prospects

- To investigate the combined influence of G and E factors on GY, GPC, protein build-up, composition and accumulation in field conditions for wheat and barley.
- To better understand the additive/non-additive effects of various parameters on the quality in wheat and barley.
- To evaluate importance of various soil parameters on GPC and protein composition as well as on quality.
- To investigate the combined influence of G and E factors in field conditions on protein composition and bread-making quality parameters of wheat and protein composition and malting quality parameters of malting barley.
- Based on field and controlled environment studies, a future ambition is to develop a mathematical simulation system or model for wheat and barley that can predict the GPC and protein composition by selecting the most suitable cultivar (in terms of maturation times), cultivation practices (*i.e.* sowing dates) and environmental conditions (*i.e.* N fertiliser and temperature).

References

- Acreche, M.M. & Slafer, G.A. (2009). Variation of grain nitrogen content in relation with grain yield in old and modern Spanish wheats grown under a wide range of agronomic conditions in a Mediterranean region. *The Journal of Agricultural Science* 147(06), 657-667.
- Andersson, A. & Holm, L. (2011). Effects of mild temperature stress on grain quality and root and straw nitrogen concentration in malting barley cultivars. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science* 197(6), 466-476.
- Baden, C. & von Bothmer, R. (1994). A taxonomic revision of Hordeum sect. Critesion. Nordic Journal of Botany 14(2), 117-136.
- Baik, B.-K. & Ullrich, S.E. (2008). Barley for food: Characteristics, improvement, and renewed interest. *Journal of Cereal Science* 48(2), 233-242.
- Bancal, M.-O., Roche, R. & Bancal, P. (2008). Late Foliar Diseases in Wheat Crops Decrease Nitrogen Yield Through N Uptake Rather than Through Variations in N Remobilization. *Annals of Botany* 102(4), 579-590.
- Baxter, E.D. (1981). Hordein in barley and malt, A review. *Journal of the Institute of Brewing* 87, 173-176.
- Bertholdsson, N.O. & Stoy, V. (1995). Yields of dry matter and nitrogen in highly diverging genotypes of winter wheat in relation to N-uptake and N-utilization. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science* 175(5), 285-295.
- Bertholdsson, N.O. (1999). Characterization of malting barley cultivars with more or less stable grain protein content under varying environmental conditions. *European Journal of Agronomy* 10(1), 1-8.
- Blanco, A., Pasqualone, A., Troccoli, A., Di Fonzo, N. & Simeone, R. (2002). Detection of grain protein content QTLs across environments in tetraploid wheats. *Plant Molecular Biology* 48(5), 615-623.
- Bogard, M., Jourdan, M., Allard, V., Martre, P., Perretant, M.R., Ravel, C., Heumez, E., Orford, S., Snape, J., Griffiths, S., Gaju, O., Foulkes, J. & Le Gouis, J. (2011). Anthesis date mainly explained correlations between post-anthesis leaf senescence, grain yield, and grain protein concentration in a winter wheat population segregating for flowering time QTLs. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 62(10), 3621-3636.
- Briggs, D. & Hough, J. (1981). Malting and Brewing Science: Malt and Sweet Wort. Springer, New York.
- Celus, I., Brijs, K. & Delcour, J.A. (2006). The effects of malting and mashing on barley protein extractability. *Journal of Cereal Science* 44(2), 203-211.

- Chibbar, R.N., Ganeshan, S., Båga, M. & Khandelwal, R.L. (2004). Carbohydrate metabolism. In: Editor-in-Chief: Colin, W. (Ed.) *Encyclopaedia of Grain Science*. pp. 168-179. Oxford: Elsevier. ISBN 978-0-12-765490-4.
- Conry, M.J. (1997). Effect of fertiliser N on the grain yield and quality of spring malting barley grown on five contrasting soils in Ireland. *Biology and Environment* 97(3), 185-196.
- Cox, M.C., Qualset, C.O. & Rains, D.W. (1986). Genetic Variation For Nitrogen Assimilation And Translocation In Wheat. Iii. Nitrogen Translocation In Relation To Grain Yield And Protein. *Crop Sci.* 26(4), 737-740.
- Dewettinck, K., Van Bockstaele, F., Kühne, B., Van de Walle, D., Courtens, T.M. & Gellynck, X. (2008). Nutritional value of bread: Influence of processing, food interaction and consumer perception. *Journal of Cereal Science* 48(2), 243-257.
- Dreccer, M.F., Grashoff, C. & Rabbinge, R. (1997). Source-sink ratio in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) during grain filling: effects on senescence and grain protein concentration. *Field Crops Research* 49(2–3), 269-277.
- Dubcovsky, J. & Jan Dvorak, j. (2007). Genome plasticity a key factor in the success of polyploid wheat under domestication. *Science* 316(5853), 1862.
- Dupont, F.M. & Altenbach, S.B. (2003). Molecular and biochemical impacts of environmental factors on wheat grain development and protein synthesis. *Journal of Cereal Science* 38(2), 133-146.
- Dyson, T. (1999). World food trends and prospects to 2025. *Proceedings of the National* Academy of Sciences 96(11), 5929-5936.
- Eagles, H., Bedggood, A., Panozzo, J. & Martin, P. (1995). Cultivar and environmental effects on malting quality in barley. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 46(5), 831-844.
- Evans, D.E., Sheehan, M.C. & Stewart, D.C. (1999). The impact of malt derived proteins on beer foam quality. Part II. The influence of malt foam-positive proteins and non-starch polysaccharides on beer foam quality. *Journal of the Institute of Brewing* 105(3).
- Every, D., Griffin, W. B., Wilson, P. E. (2003). Ascorbate oxidase, protein disufide isomerase, ascorbic acid, dehydroascorbic acid and protein levels in developing wheat kernels and their relationship to protein disulphide bond formation. *Cereal Chemistry* 80(1), 35-39.
- FAO (2010) http://faostat.fao.org/site/567/DesktopDefault.aspx?PageID=567#ancor.
- Feldman, M. (1976). Wheats. In: Simmonds, N.W. (Ed.) *Evolution of Crop Plants*. pp. 120-128 Longman Group Limited, England.
- Ferrise, R., Triossi, A., Stratonovitch, P., Bindi, M. & Martre, P. (2010). Sowing date and nitrogen fertilisation effects on dry matter and nitrogen dynamics for durum wheat: An experimental and simulation study. *Field Crops Research* 117(2–3), 245-257.
- Field, J., Shewry, P.R. & Miflin, B.J. (1983). Solubilization and characterization of wheat gluten proteins; correlations between the amount of aggregated proteins and baking quality. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 34, 370-378.
- Finney, K.F. & Barmore, M.D. (1948). Loaf volume and protein content of hard winter and spring wheats. *Cereal Chemistry* 25, 291-312.
- Godfrey, D., Hawkesford, M., Powers, S., Millar, S. & Shewry, P. (2010). Effects of Crop Nutrition on Wheat Grain Composition and End Use Quality. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 58(5), 3012-3021.
- Goesaert, H., Brijs, K., Veraverbeke, W.S., Courtin, C.M., Gebruers, K. & Delcour, J.A. (2005). Wheat flour constituents: how they impact bread quality, and how to impact their functionality. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 16(1-3), 12-30.

- Gupta, R.B. & MacRitchie, F. (1994). Allelic Variation at Glutenin Subunit and Gliadin Loci, Glu-1, Glu-3 and Gli-1 of Common Wheats. II. Biochemical Basis of the Allelic Effects on Dough Properties. *Journal of Cereal Science* 19(1), 19-29.
- Gupta, R.B., Khan, K. & MacRitchie, F. (1993). Biochemical basis of flour properties in bread wheats. I. Effects of variation in the quantity and size distribution of polymeric protein. *Journal of Cereal Science* 18, 23-41.
- Habash, D., Bernard, S., Schondelmaier, J., Weyen, J. & Quarrie, S. (2007). The genetics of nitrogen use in hexaploid wheat: N utilisation, development and yield. *TAG Theoretical* and Applied Genetics 114(3), 403-419.
- Henry, R.J. & McLean, B.T. (1984). Effect of sample size on the micro-malting of barley. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 35(7), 767-772.
- Henry, R.J. (1989). Factors influencing the rate of modification of barleys during malting. Journal of Cereal Science 10(1), 51-59.
- Heun, M., SchaferPregl, R., Klawan, D., Castagna, R., Accerbi, M., Borghi, B. & Salamini, F. (1997). Site of einkorn wheat domestication identified by DNA fingerprinting. *Science* 278(5341), 1312-1314.
- Hirel, B. & Lea, P.J. (2011). The molecular genetics of nitrogen use efficiency in crops. In: *The Molecular and Physiological Basis of Nutrient Use Efficiency in Crops*. pp. 139-164 Wiley-Blackwell. ISBN 9780470960707.
- Hurkman, W.J., McCue, K.F., Altenbach, S.B., Korn, A., Tanaka, C.K., Kothari, K.M., Johnson, E.L., Bechtel, D.B., Wilson, J.D., Anderson, O.D. & DuPont, F.M. (2003). Effect of temperature on expression of genes encoding enzymes for starch biosynthesis in developing wheat endosperm. *Plant Science* 164(5), 873-881.
- Jamieson, P.D. & Semenov, M.A. (2000). Modelling nitrogen uptake and redistribution in wheat. *Field Crops Research* 68(1), 21-29.
- Jenner, C., Ugalde, T. & Aspinall, D. (1991). The physiology of starch and protein deposition in the endosperm of wheat. *Functional Plant Biology* 18(3), 211-226.
- Johansson, E., Henriksson, P., Svensson, G. & Heneen, W.K. (1993). Detection, chromosomal location and evaluation of the functional value of a novel high Mr glutenin subunit found in Swedish wheats. *Journal of Cereal Science* 17, 237-245.
- Johansson, E., Oscarson, P., Heneen, W.K. & Lundborg, T. (1994). Differences in accumulation of storage proteins between wheat cultivars during development. *Journal of the Science* of Food and Agriculture 64(3), 305-313.
- Johansson, E. & Svensson, G. (1998). Variation in bread-making quality: effects of weather parameters on protein concentration and quality in some Swedish wheat cultivars grown during the period 1975-1996. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 78, 109-118.
- Johansson, E. & Svensson, G. (1999). Influences of yearly weather variation and fertilizer rate on bread-making quality in Swedish grown wheats containing HMW glutenin subunits 2+12 or 5+10 cultivated during the period 1990-96. *Journal of Agricultural Science, Cambridge* 132, 13-22.
- Johansson, E., Prieto-Linde, M.L. & Jönsson, J.Ö. (2001). Effects of wheat cultivar and nitrogen application on storage protein composition and breadmaking quality. *Cereal Chemistry* 78(1), 19-25.
- Johansson, E. (2002). Effect of two wheat genotypes and Swedish environment on falling number, amylase activities, and protein concentration and composition. *Euphytica* 126(1), 143-149.
- Johansson, E., Prieto-Linde, M.L., Svensson, G. & Jönsson, J.Ö. (2003). Influences of cultivar, cultivation year and fertilizer rate on amount of protein groups and amount and size

distribution of mono- and polymeric proteins in wheat. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 140, 275-284.

- Johansson, E., Kuktaite, R., Andersson, A. & Prieto-Linde, M.L. (2005). Protein polymer buildup during wheat grain development: influences of temperature and nitrogen timing. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 85(3), 473-479.
- Johansson, E., Prieto-Linde, M.L. & Gissén, C. (2008). Influences of weather, cultivar and fertiliser rate on grain protein polymer accumulation in field-grown winter wheat, and relations to grain water content and falling number. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 88(11), 2011-2018.
- Jones, B.L. (2005). Endoproteases of barley and malt. Journal of Cereal Science 42(2), 139-156.
- Joppa, L.R. & Cantrell, R.G. (1990). Chromosomal Location Of Genes For Grain Protein Content Of Wild Tetraploid Wheat. Crop Sci. 30(5), 1059-1064.
- Jordbruksverket (2011). Statistical data about Swedish Agricultural Production. http://www.sjv.se/swedishboardofagriculture/statistics/yearbookofagriculturalstatistics/20 11.4.13af540213600c8df7a8000399.html (accessed 20120605).
- Kawahara, T. (2009). Molecular phylogeny among Triticum-Aegilops species and of the tribe Triticeae. *Breeding Science* 59(5), 499-504.
- Kellogg, E.A. (2001). Evolutionary History of the Grasses. Plant Physiology 125(3), 1198-1205.
- Kramer, T. (1979). Environmental and genetic variation for protein content in winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Euphytica* 28(2), 209-218.
- Levy, A.A. & Feldman, M. (1987). Increase in grain protein percentage in high-yielding common wheat breeding lines by genes from wild tetraploid wheat. *Euphytica* 36(2), 353-359.
- MacGregor, A.W. & Fincher, G.B. (Eds.) (1993). Carbohydrates of the Barley Grain. St. Paul, Minnesota, USA: American Association of Cereal Chemists. Barley: Chemistry and Technology.
- MacRitchie, F. (1984). Baking quality of wheat flours. *Advances in Food Nutrition Research* 29, 201-277.
- Marchylo, B.A., Kruger, J.E. & Hatcher, D.W. (1989). Quantitative reversed-phase highperformance liquid chromatographic analysis of wheat storage proteins as a potential quality prediction tool. *Journal of Cereal Science* 9(2), 113-130.
- Mares, D. & Mrva, K. (2008). Late-maturity α-amylase: Low falling number in wheat in the absence of preharvest sprouting. *Journal of Cereal Science* 47(1), 6-17.
- Martre, P., Porter, J.R., Jamieson, P.D. & Triboi, E. (2003). Modeling Grain Nitrogen Accumulation and Protein Composition to Understand the Sink/Source Regulations of Nitrogen Remobilization for Wheat. *Plant Physiology* 133(4), 1959-1967.
- Martre, P., Jamieson, P.D., Semenov, M.A., Zyskowski, R.F., Porter, J.R. & Triboi, E. (2006). Modelling protein content and composition in relation to crop nitrogen dynamics for wheat. *European Journal of Agronomy* 25(2), 138-154.
- Matthews, J.A. & Miflin, B.J. (1980). In vitro synthesis of barley storage proteins. *Planta* 149(3), 262-268.
- Mattsson, M., Johansson, E., Lundborg, T., Larsson, M. & Larsson, C.M. (1991). Nitrogen utilization in N-limited barley during vegetative and generative growth: I. Growth and nitrate uptake kinetics in vegetative cultures grown at different relative addition rates of nitrate-N. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 42(2), 197-205.
- McDonald, G.K. (1992). Effects of nitrogenous fertilizer on the growth, grain yield and grain protein concentration of wheat. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 43(5), 949-967.

- Mosse, J. (1990). Nitrogen-to-protein conversion factor for ten cereals and six legumes or oilseeds. A reappraisal of its definition and determination. Variation according to species and to seed protein content. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 38(1), 18-24.
- Müntz, K., Belozersky, M.A., Dunaevsky, Y.E., Schlereth, A. & Tiedemann, J. (2001). Stored proteinases and the initiation of storage protein mobilization in seeds during germination and seedling growth. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 52(362), 1741-1752.
- Naeem, H.A., Paulon, D., Irmak, S. & MacRitchie, F. (2012). Developmental and environmental effects on the assembly of glutenin polymers and the impact on grain quality of wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science* 56(1), 51-57.
- Newman, C.W. & Newman, R.K. (2006). A brief history of barley foods. *Cereal Foods World* 51(1), 4-7.
- Oelofse, R.M., Labuschagne, M.T. & van Deventer, C.S. (2010). Influencing factors of sodium dodecyl sulfate sedimentation in bread wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science* 52(1), 96-99.
- Osborne, T.B. (1924). The Vegetable Proteins. London: Longmans, Green and Co.
- Oscarson, P. (1996). Transport of recently assimilated 15N nitrogen to individual spikelets in spring wheat grown in culture solution. *Annals of Botany* 78(4), 479-488.
- Osman, A.M., Coverdale, S.M., Cole, N., Hamilton, S.E., De Jersey, J. & Inkerman, P.A. (2002). Characterisation and assessment of the role of barley malt endoproteases during malting and mashing. *Journal of the Institute of Brewing* 108(1), 62-67.
- Palmer, G.H. (2000). Malt performance is more related to inhomogeneity of protein and Î²-glucan breakdown than to standard malt analyses. *Journal of the Institute of Brewing* 106(3), 189-192.
- Parker, M.L. (1980). Protein body inclusions in developing wheat endosperm. Annual Review of Botany 46, 29-36.
- Payne, P.I. & Lawrence, G.J. (1983). Catalogue of alleles for the complex gene loci, Glu-A1, Glu-B1, and Glu-D1 which code for high-molecular-weight subunits of glutenin in hexaploid wheat. *Cereal Research Communications* 11, 29-35.
- Payne, P.I., Holt, L.M., Thompson, R.D., Bartels, D., Harberd, N.P., Harris, P.A. & Law, C.N. (1983). The high molecular weight subunit of glutenin : Classical genetics, molecular genetics and the relationship to bread-making quality. *6th Int. Wheat Genetic Symp.*, 824-834.
- Payne, P.I. (1986). Endosperm proteins. In: Blenstein, A.D., King, P. J. (Ed.) Plant Gene Research: a Genetic Approach to Plant Biochemistry. pp. 207-301. New York: Spinger.
- Pence, J.W., Weinstein, N.E. & Mecham, D. (1954). The albumin and globulin contents of wheat flour and their relationship to protein quality. *Cereal Chemistry* 31, 303–311.
- Peterson, C.J., Graybosch , R.A., Baenziger, P.S. & Grombacher, A.W. (1992). Genotype and environment effects on quality characteristics of hard red winter wheat. *Crop Science* 32, 98–103.
- Rahman, S., Shewry, P.R. & Miflin, B.J. (1982). Differential protein accumulation during barley grain development. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 33, 717–728.
- SAS (2004). SAS[®] 9.1.2 *Qualification Tools User's Guide*. In. NC, USA: SAS Institute Inc.
- Savin, R. & Nicolas, M. (1996). Effects of Short Periods of Drought and High Temperature on Grain Growth and Starch Accumulation of Two Malting Barley Cultivars. *Functional Plant Biology* 23(2), 201-210.
- SCB (2011). TITLE Statistiska centralbyrån (SCB), Sweden. ISSN 1654-4137.
- Shewry, P.R., Kreis, M., Parmar, S., Lew, E.J.L. & Kasarda, D.D. (1985). Identification of γ-type hordeins in barley. *FEBS Letters* 190(1), 61-64.

- Shewry, P.R., Tatham, A.S., J., F., Kreis, M. & Miflin, B.J. (1986). The classification and nomenclature of wheat gluten proteins: a reassessment. *Journal of Cereal Science* 4, 97-106.
- Shewry, P.R., Parmar, S. & Field, J.M. (1988). Two-dimensional electrophoresis of cereal prolamins: Applications to biochemical and genetic analyses. *Electrophoresis* 9(11), 727-737
- Shewry, P.R. & Tatham, A.S. (1990). The prolamin storage proteins of cereal seeds: structure and evolution. *Journal of Biochemistry* (267), 1-12.
- Shewry, P.R., Halford, N.G. & Tatham, A.S. (1992). High molecular weight subunits of wheat glutenin. *Journal of Cereal Science* 15, 105-120.
- Shewry, P.R., Napier, J.A., Tatham, A. S. (1995). Seed storage proteins: structures and biosynthesis. *The Plant Cell* 7, 945-956.
- Shewry, P.R. (1999). The synthesis, processing, and deposition of gluten proteins in the developing wheat grain. *Cereal Foods World* 44, 587-589.
- Shewry, P.R., Halford, N.G., Belton, P.S. & Tatham, A.S. (2002). The structure and properties of gluten: An elastic protein from wheat grain. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences* 357(1418), 133-142.
- Shewry, P.R. (2003). *Wheat Gluten Proteins*. St Paul, MN: AACC. (Wheat Gluten Protein Analysis.
- Shewry, P.R. (2007). Improving the protein content and composition of cereal grain. *Journal of Cereal Science* 46(3), 239-250.
- Shewry, P.R. (2009). Wheat. Journal of Experimental Botany 60(6), 1537-1553.
- Shewry, P.R., Charmet, G., Branlard, G., Lafiandra, D., Gergely, S., Salgó, A., Saulnier, L., Bedő, Z., Mills, E.N.C. & Ward, J.L. (2012). Developing new types of wheat with enhanced health benefits. *Trends in Food Science & amp; Technology* 25(2), 70-77.
- Silva, F., Nogueira, L.C., Gonçalves, C., Ferreira, A.A., Ferreira, I.M.P.L.V.O. & Teixeira, N. (2008). Electrophoretic and HPLC methods for comparative study of the protein fractions of malts, worts and beers produced from Scarlett and Prestige barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) varieties. *Food Chemistry* 106(2), 820-829.
- Simmonds, N.W. (1995). The relation between yield and protein in cereal grain. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 67(3), 309-315.
- Sinclair, T.R. & Muchow, R.C. (2001). System analysis of plant traits to increase grain yield on limited water supplies. *Agronomy Journal* 93, 263-270.
- Singh, H. & Skerritt, J. (2001). Chromosomal control of albumins and globulins in wheat grain assessed using different fractionation procedures. *Journal of Cereal Science* 33, 163-181.
- Skerritt, J.H. & Janes, P.W. (1992). Disulphide-bonded gel protein aggregates in barley: qualityrelated differences in composition and reductive dissociation. *Journal of Cereal Science* 16, 219-235.
- Steiner, E., Gastl, M. & Becker, T. (2011). Protein changes during malting and brewing with focus on haze and foam formation: a review. *European Food Research and Technology* 232(2), 191-204.
- Stone, P.J. & Nicolas, M.E. (1996). Varietal Differences in Mature Protein Composition of Wheat Resulted From Different Rates of Polymer Accumulation During Grain Filling. *Functional Plant Biology* 23(6), 727-737.
- Stryer, L. (1981). Biochemistry. Arcata Book Group/WH Freeman, New York, NY.
- Tatham, A.S. & Shewry, P.R. (1995). The S-poor prolamins of wheat, barley and rye. *Journal of Cereal Science* 22(1), 1-16.

- Triboi, E., Martre, P. & Triboi-Blondel, A.-M. (2003). Environmentally-induced changes in protein composition in developing grains of wheat are related to changes in total protein content. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 54(388), 1731-1742.
- Uauy, C., Distelfeld, A., Fahima, T., Blechl, A. & Dubcovsky, J. (2006). A NAC Gene Regulating Senescence Improves Grain Protein, Zinc, and Iron Content in Wheat. *Science* 314(5803), 1298-1301.
- Ullrich, S.E. (2010). Significance, adaptation, production, and trade of barley. In: *Barley*. pp. 3-13 Wiley-Blackwell. ISBN 9780470958636.
- Vázquez, D., Berger, A.G., Cuniberti, M., Bainotti, C., de Miranda, M.Z., Scheeren, P.L., Jobet, C., Zúñiga, J., Cabrera, G., Verges, R. & Peña, R.J. (2012). Influence of cultivar and environment on quality of Latin American wheats. *Journal of Cereal Science* (in press).
- Wang, Y.G., Khan, K., Hareland, G. & Nygard, G. (2006). Quantitative glutenin composition from gel electrophoresis of flour mill streams and relationship to breadmaking quality. *Cereal Chemistry* 83(3), 293-299.
- Wang, J.M., Chen, C.H., Dai, F., Wu, F.B., Yang, J.M. & Zhang, G.P. (2007). Protein fractions in barley grains as affected by some agronomic factors and their relationships to malt quality. *Cereal Research Communications* 35(1), 129-140.
- Wieser, H. & Seilmeier, W. (1998). The influence of nitrogen fertilisation on quantities and proportions of different protein types in wheat flour. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 76(1), 49-55.
- Wieser, H. (2007). Chemistry of gluten proteins. Food Microbiology 24(2), 115-119.

www.vikingmalt.com

- Xue, D.-W., Chen, M.-C., Zhou, M.-X., Chen, S., Mao, Y. & Zhang, G.-P. (2008). QTL analysis of flag leaf in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) for morphological traits and chlorophyll content. *Journal of Zhejiang University - Science B* 9(12), 938-943.
- Yang, P., Li, X., Wang, X., Chen, H., Chen, F. & Shen, S. (2007). Proteomic analysis of rice (Oryza sativa) seeds during germination. *Proteomics* 7(18), 3358-3368.
- Zhang, G., Chen, J., Wang, J. & Ding, S. (2001). Cultivar and environmental effects on $(1\rightarrow3,1\rightarrow4)$ - β -D-glucan and protein content in malting barley. *Journal of Cereal Science* 34(3), 295-301.
- Zohary, D. & Hopf, M. (1993). *Domestication of Plants in the Old World*. Oxford University Press.

Acknowledgments

In the name of almighty Allah, the most Beneficent and the most Merciful. I am thankful to Allah for giving me strength and wisdom to achieve that goal in my life and also granting me more than what I deserve.

It seems like yesterday, when I got the news, from the higher education commission of Pakistan, that I was selected for doing PhD in the land of *Alfred Nobel*. With mixed feelings of sadness (for leaving family), happiness and curiosity (about new goals of life), I prepared myself to go to Sweden. It was a usual grey, rainy and windy September (2007) evening when I arrived in Malmö. These five years, which I have spent in Sweden, are the unforgettable years of my life. I would like to say thanks to my supervisors, colleagues, friends and family members who have contributed in one way or another in the completion of my PhD degree.

Eva Johansson. All the credit goes to you. Thank you very much for being my main supervisor. I wouldn't have achieve this goal without you. You were always there to listen, help and guide me in every aspect. Thanks a lot for your time (official and unofficial) to read my articles and thesis. I am also grateful to you for inviting me to your family gatherings and for wonderful Swedish traditional events and dinners. I have learnt a lot from you.

Allan Andersson. Thanks a lot for sharing your valuable knowledge with me about 'nitrogen' and thanks also for your time for fruitful discussions and reading my articles and thesis.

Ramune Kuktaite. I am grateful to you for valuable discussions and also to give me time for reading my articles and thesis. It was a nice experience to work with you.

I would like to say thanks to my department colleagues for their help, moral support, suggestions and friendly behavior.

Marisa, you are the symbol of life and energy in department. Thanks for your help in my experiments, giving useful information about everyday life and for social events.

Jan-Erik Englund, thanks for helping me with statistics.

I am thankful to all my colleagues in and outside department for informative talks and cheerful company

Erik-Sten Jensen, George Carlsson, Anders Nilsson, Acke, Charlott Gissén, Bertil Christensson, David Hansson, Fatih Mohammad, Hans Larsson, Jan Erik Mattsson, Majvi La, Maria Ernfors, Sven-Erik Svensson, Nur Ahmed, Joakim, Inger Åhman, Vehbo, Sven Axel Svensson, NawaRaj.

My friends within and outside university are the ones who listened to my continuous and boring talks with a sweet smile and full attention and were always helpful.

Shahid Majeed, you were always there to motivate me. Thank you for everything.

Thomas Prade, it has been an awesome time with you. Whenever I was stressed due to work you were always around to listen and giving me tips regarding PhD studies and also for improving my broken Swedish[©].

Faiza Rasheed, thanks for your friendly advices and help.

Gurki, thanks for your evening calls for cheering me up during my thesis writing. You have been a wonderful friend and brother.

Miklo, Thanks for your existence. I will always remember the time spent with you, indeed, it was a quality time.

Anna Karin Rosberg, Märit, Gustav (late), Siju, Majeed, Paulein, Åsa Grimberg, Sharon, Bill Newson, Lorna, Maruf, Mahbub, Firuz, Bakhrom, Dharani, Sophie Kromann, Faiza Rasheed, Tora Råberg, Linda Marie, Mira, Zubair, Mr and Mrs. Binyameen, Zakir, Liaqat, Mr and Mrs. Mehboob, Mr and Mrs. Abrar, Therese, Narayanan, Faraz, Mr and Mrs. Esmael, Irtaza, Mr and Mrs. Saveer, Ashfaq, Ann Sofie, Khizer, Khalid, Faisal, Maliha, Ali, Ammo, Sarmad Khoosat, Jawad, Faiza, Rafique, Miryam, Seema, Sumra, Gooshi, Anastasija Petunina, Pål, Jalal, Malik Rehman, Omar, Feraz, Khallaf, Sadia, Fareeha, Rizwan, Ranjeet, David, Magali, Isabell, Mario, Aman, Belen, Malin and many more who believed in me, cared about me and will always be with me in my memories.

With the core of my heart I express my deep gratitude for my sweet and loving family members who were always there for me.

My father *Hafeez Ahmed Malik* and My mother *Gulnar Andleeb*; who believed in me. A big salute to both of you for your love, prayers and help.

My brothers *Adeel Malik, Omer Malik*; thanks for your moral support, love and affection.

And my sisters *Nadia Malik* and *Saira Malik*; thanks for your sweet and interesting talks, affection and care.